IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF) No. S173973
CALIFORNIA,)
) Court of Appeal No. D052091
Plaintiff and Respondent,)
v.) San Diego County Superior Court
) No. SCD205930
JOAQUIN MENA,)
)
Defendant and Appellant.)
-	_)
•	

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Appeal from the Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of San Diego

SUPREME COURT FILED

NOV 19 2009

Honorable Bernard Revak, Judge

Frederick K. Ohlrigh Cler

Deputy

John P. Dwyer, SBN 106860 LAW OFFICES OF JOHN P. DWYER 601 Van Ness Ave., Suite E-115 San Francisco, CA 94102 415.885.4451

Attorney for Appellant JOAQUIN MENA

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Did appellant forfeit his right to appeal the denial of his request for a physical identification lineup prior to the preliminary hearing because he failed to seek immediate review of the ruling by filing a petition for writ of mandate?
 - a. Is every defendant who wants to challenge the denial of a lineup motion on direct appeal following a judgment required first to seek immediate review of the ruling by filing a petition for a writ of mandate?
 - b. If this court holds that every defendant who wants to appeal the denial of a lineup motion must first seek immediate review by filing a petition for a writ of mandate, is that holding to be applied retroactively to this case?
- 2. If the issue was not forfeited, or if the court holding is not made retroactive to appellant, was the trial court's error in denying the lineup motion harmless beyond a reasonable doubt?

Introduction

Appellant Joaquin Mena was charged with two counts of assault with a deadly weapon. The charges were based on an attack by a dozen gang members on two victims. Shortly after his arrest, and before the preliminary hearing, Mena moved for a lineup under *Evans v. Superior Court* (1974) 11 Cal.3d 617. The trial court denied the motion on the ground that there was no reasonable likelihood of misidentification. The principal issue at trial was whether one of the victims had correctly identified Mena at a showup as one of the assailants. Neither victim could identify Mena at trial, and there was very little corroborating evidence of Mena's guilt.

On appeal, Mena challenged his convictions for assault with a deadly weapon on the ground that the trial court erred in denying his lineup motion. The Court of Appeal rejected Mena's argument, holding (1) that Mena forfeited the *Evans* issue because he did not seek immediate appellate review through a petition for a writ of mandate; and (2) alternatively, that the *Evans* error was harmless, because a lineup would have had no evidentiary value for the defense since the victims did not identify Mena at the preliminary hearing or at trial. Both holdings are wrong.

First, the court's holding that Mena forfeited his right to raise the Evans issue on direct appeal conflicts with the legislative scheme that permits defendants to challenge pretrial rulings on direct appeal (see Pen. Code, §§ 1237, 1259), and it conflicts with this court's precedent that a defendant need not seek writ review of pretrial rulings as a prerequisite to seeking relief on direct appeal (People v. Memro (1985) 38 Cal.3d 658, overruled on another ground in People v. Gaines (2009) 46 Cal.4th 172, 181, fn. 2; People v. Batts (2003) 30 Cal.4th 660).

¹ All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise noted.

If this court nonetheless holds that a defendant's failure to seek writ review forfeits the *Evans* issue on direct appeal, this court also should hold that such a new rule is not retroactive. Because of the numerous cases addressing the *Evans* issue on the merits on direct appeal and because of the absence of any precedent or secondary authority requiring defendants to seek writ review, Mena reasonably concluded that he was not obligated to seek writ review to preserve the issue for direct appeal. (See *People v. Scott* (1994) 9 Cal.4th 331, 357-358.)

Second, the Court of Appeal's harmless error analysis is wrong. The appellate court did not find that the evidence of Mena's guilt was overwhelming. Rather, it held that the lineup would not have produced any useful evidence, because the victim did not identify Mena in open court. The court's reasoning, however, overlooked the prosecution's forceful argument that the victim was not unable to identify Mena, but rather would not identify him in court because he was intimidated by Mena watching him from only a few feet away. However, had the victim failed to identify Mena at a formal, police-supervised lineup, at which the victim would have viewed Mena with other similar-looking young men behind one-way glass, the prosecutor would not have been able to argue credibly that the victim's failure to identify Mena in open court was a product of his fear of Mena.

In addition, the People cannot prove that the evidence of guilt was so overwhelming that the *Evans* error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The victim had little opportunity to view his assailants, the victim had never previously seen Mena, the showup was suggestive, and there was very little corroborating evidence of Mena's involvement in the assault. In view of the well documented problems with the reliability of eyewitness identification of strangers, this record does not show the *Evans* error was harmless.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 19, 2007, appellant Joaquin Mena was charged by information with two counts of assault with a deadly weapon (§ 245, subd. (a)(1)), with a gang allegation for each count (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1)), and one count of carrying a concealed dirk or dagger. (§ 12020, subd. (a)(4).) Three others – Jorge Lopez, Adrian Pasillas, and Ricardo William Sanchez – also were charged with the two counts of assault with a deadly weapon and the gang allegations. (1 CT 1-4.)²

On May 29, 2007, before the preliminary hearing, the superior court denied Mena's motion for a pretrial lineup. (1 CT 89.06; 1 RT 8-10.)

On October 11, 2007, Sanchez pled guilty. (1 CT 66.) On October 29, 2007, a jury found Mena, Lopez, and Pasillas guilty as charged, and found the gang allegations to be true. (1 CT 120-123; 7 RT 805-806.)

On November 29, 2007, the court granted Mena probation on condition that he serve one year in jail. (1 CT 84-87, 124; 7 RT 819-821.)

On appeal, Mena challenged his convictions for assault with a deadly weapon on the ground that the trial court erroneously denied his lineup motion. On May 19, 2009, the Court of Appeal ordered the judgment modified to correct an error in the conditions of probation, but otherwise affirmed the judgment. On June 9, 2009, the Court of Appeal denied Mena's petition for rehearing. On August 26, 2009, this court granted review.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At about 5 p.m. on April 13, 2007, 17-year old Jonathan F. and 16-year-old Jesus C. were walking west on Polk Street in San Diego after getting some food at a nearby Jack in the Box. (2 RT 26-28, 126, 129-130.)

² "CT" refers to the Clerk's Transcript; "RT" refers to the Reporter's Transcript; "SCT" refers the Supplemental Clerk's Transcript consisting of the lineup motion and two juror notes.

As they were crossing the intersection at Van Dyke, a red Ford and a white Cadillac stopped without warning in the intersection, with one occupant yelling, "How's the East Side life treating you?," to Jesus C. and Jonathan F. (2 RT 29-30, 72-75, 130-131.)

Although Jesus C. and Jonathan F. responded that they were not involved in gangs (2 RT 31, 133), a dozen or so young Hispanic men immediately piled out of the cars, and several of them started running after them (2 RT 31-33, 58, 78, 83, 133, 135, 149, 164). One swung at Jesus C., who began to run up Van Dyke while being chased by at least two people, including Pasillas, who was trying to stab Jesus C. (2 RT 32, 35-39, 59-60, 79.) After he ran about half a block, Jesus C. realized he was no longer being chased. (2 RT 81.)

Jonathan F. was also chased as he ran up Van Dyke after he saw one of the young men with a baseball bat and another with a knife. (2 RT 134, 136.) One of the assailants hit Jonathan F. in the head with a baseball bat. (2 RT 137-138.) The assailants then drove off. (2 RT 141-142.) Jonathan F. was taken to a hospital, where he received nine stitches to close the wound, and was left with a scar above his right ear. (2 RT 139-140.)

Both Jesus C. and Jonathan F. gave only general descriptions of their assailants – young Hispanic men with short hair or shaved heads. (2 RT 42, 55-56, 58, 135, 149.) They could not specifically describe the assailants' clothing or state if they had tattoos. (2 RT 63-64, 148; 5 RT 540-541.) Their description of the assailants applied to many young men in the neighborhood, not just the numerous gang members, but also non-gang members. (2 RT 159, 224; 3 RT 257.) An experienced gang officer testified that nothing about Mena's appearance identified him as a gang member. (2 RT 223.)

Following the assaults, police patrolled the neighborhood looking for the cars involved in the incident. About four blocks from the scene, two gang officers spotted a red car that roughly matched one of the cars involved in the incident (it was determined later to be the wrong car). (2 RT 170-171, 211, 251, 264.) They also noticed four young Hispanic men in the front yard of a nearby house – Mena, co-defendants Lopez and Pasillas, and Robert Ferguson. (2 RT 171-172, 175-176, 207-209.) Mena was sitting in a chair onto which East Side gang graffiti had been scratched. Police searched Mena and found a steak knife in his pocket (this was the basis for count 3, possession of a dagger/dirk). (2 RT 204, 213, 230, 260.) They also found a spray paint can and two recently painted baseball bats in the side yard. (2 RT 179-182, 233-234, 253, 263.)

The police arranged for a showup with Mena, Lopez, Pasillas, Ferguson, and another young man found in the house, co-defendant Ricardo Sanchez. (2 RT 184.)³ About 7 p.m., while it was still daylight, Jesus C. arrived in the back of a patrol car. The police presented the suspects oneby-one; each suspect was turned so that Jesus C. could view the front, side, and back for a couple of seconds. (2 RT 184-185; 3 RT 288.) From a distance as far as 35-40 feet (3 RT 66, 299; see also 2 RT 184 [another officer said the distance was 15-20 feet]) – which Jesus C. described as "far away" (2 RT 49, 68) - Jesus C. said that Mena, Lopez, Pasillas, and Sanchez were involved in the assault (3 RT 290-294, 305). Jesus C. identified Pasillas as the person who tried to stab him. (3 RT 292.) He also said that Ferguson was not involved because all the assailants were Hispanic and Ferguson was Anglo. (2 RT 45-46, 49, 51, 67, 88; 3 RT 294.) At trial, Jesus C. testified that the four individuals he had identified at the showup had chased him during the attack. (2 RT 50, 54.) Jesus C., however, could not make an in-court identification of any of the defendants at either trial or the preliminary hearing. (2 RT 46-48.)

³ During the trial, Sanchez was sometimes called by his alias, Jesus Valle.

On May 9, 2007, the police showed Jonathan F. four six-pack photo arrays, one for each defendant. The only picture he identified was Mena's, saying that the picture "looked like" one of the young men in the red car, but also that he was "not sure." (2 RT 145-146, 156; 3 RT 347-349.) Based on this, the DA investigator wrote in his report that Jonathan F. could not make an identification. (3 RT 355, 359.) Jonathan F. also could not make an in-court identification of any of the defendants at either trial or the preliminary hearing. (2 RT 146.)

The prosecution put on evidence that East San Diego (also called East Side) was a criminal street gang (3 RT 386-401), and the gang expert gave his opinion that Mena and Lopez were associates of the gang (3 RT 405-413) and that Pasillas was a documented member of the gang (3 RT 413-417). He also gave his opinion, in response to the prosecutor's hypothetical question, that the assaults in this case were committed in association with and for the benefit of the East Side gang. (3 RT 417-419.)

ARGUMENT

A defendant has a due process right to a pretrial lineup if he timely files a lineup motion and if "eyewitness identification is shown to be a material issue and there exists a reasonable likelihood of a mistaken identification which a lineup would tend to resolve." (Evans v. Superior Court (1974) 11 Cal.3d 617, 625; see also People v. Williams (1997) 16 Cal.4th 153, 235 [reiterating the Evans criteria]; People v. Farnam (2002) 28 Cal.4th 107, 183 [same].)

Mena timely moved for a pretrial lineup. (1 SCT 1; 1 CT 89.06.)⁴ The only disputed issue was whether there existed a reasonable likelihood

⁴ Co-defendant Lopez filed the motion, but Mena joined the motion. (See 1 CT 89.06; 1 RT 2.)

of misidentification.⁵ The trial court denied the motion on this ground. (1 CT 89.06; 1 RT 8-10.)

The Court of Appeal affirmed, but on different grounds. (*People v. Mena* (May 19, 2009, D052091) [nonpub. opn].) Without deciding whether there existed a reasonable likelihood of misidentification, the court held that Mena forfeited the issue because he had not filed a petition for writ of mandate immediately after the trial court denied his motion. (Opn. at 6-8.) This holding is contrary to the legislative scheme, which establishes a right of appeal without first requiring the defendant to seek writ review. (See §§ 1237, 1259.) The holding also is contrary to this court's precedent. (See *People v. Memro* (1985) 38 Cal.3d 658, overruled on another ground in *People v. Gaines* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 172, 181, fn. 2; *People v. Batts* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 660.)

The Court of Appeal held in the alternative that even if Mena had not forfeited the issue, the error was harmless because Jesus C. did not identify Mena at either the preliminary hearing or the trial, thereby rendering the results of the lineup irrelevant to the defense case. The Court of Appeal did not find that the evidence of guilt was overwhelming. (Opn. at 8.) This alternative holding is flawed because it ignored prosecution's closing argument, which emphasized that Jesus C. did not identify Mena in open court because, when faced with Mena sitting only a few feet away, he was intimidated and unwilling to identify Mena. This powerful argument

⁵ Mena brought the lineup motion about a month after arraignment and before the preliminary hearing. (See 1 CT 89.01; 1 SCT 1.) Neither the prosecution nor the trial court asserted the motion was untimely. (See 1 RT 6-8 [prosecutor's argument at the motion hearing]; 1 RT 8-9 [trial court's ruling].) There also was no dispute that eyewitness identification was a material issue on counts 1 and 2. (See 5 RT 646-649 [Mena's closing argument]; 1 RT 6-8 [prosecutor's argument at the motion hearing]; 1 RT 9 [trial court noted that "[t]he materiality [of the] eyewitness' identification issue was not disputed by the People"].)

would have been seriously undermined had Jesus C. failed to identify Mena in a police-supervised lineup. Because in such a lineup Jesus C. would have stood behind a one-way mirror, where Mena could not see him, the prosecutor would not have been able to argue credibly that Jesus C. failed to identify Mena because he was intimidated.

Accordingly, this case must be remanded to the Court of Appeal to consider the trial court's ruling that there was no "reasonable likelihood of a mistaken identification which a lineup would tend to resolve." (*Evans*, supra, 11 Cal.3d at p. 625.)

- I. Appellant Did Not Forfeit His Right To Challenge The Denial Of His Lineup Motion On Direct Appeal Following A Judgment By Failing To Seek Immediate Relief Through A Petition For A Writ Of Mandate.
 - A. Defendants Who Want To Challenge On Direct Appeal The Denial Of A Lineup Motion Are Not Required First To Seek Immediate Relief By Filing A Petition For A Writ Of Mandate.

There is no statutory authority or case law for the proposition that defendants who want to obtain appellate review of the denial of a lineup motion must first seek immediate review by filing a petition for a writ of mandate. On the contrary, the Legislature has created a right of direct appeal from a final judgment unencumbered by such a requirement. Requiring writ review would conflict with that legislatively established right. In addition, imposing a requirement to seek writ review would be contrary to this court's cases holding that defendants may not be required to seek writ review to challenge other types of pretrial rulings.

1. The Legislative Scheme Leaves No Room For A Judicially Created Obligation To Seek Writ Relief In Order To Preserve The Lineup Issue For Direct Appeal.

Because the right to appeal a judgment or order is statutory (*People v. Chi Ko Wong* (1976) 18 Cal.3d 698, 709, disapproved on another ground

in *People v. Green* (1980) 27 Cal.3d 1, 34-35), "appellate procedure is . . . subject to complete legislative control" (*Powers v. City of Richmond* (2001) 85 Cal.4th 85, 105 [lead opn.]; *Trede v. Superior Court* (1943) 21 Cal.2d 630, 634).

In criminal cases, the Legislature has provided defendants with a right of appeal following a final judgment. (§ 1237.) That right permits a defendant to challenge all rulings made before final judgment. (§ 1259 [permitting an appeal so long as the defendant raised an objection in the trial court].) Nothing in the language of sections 1237 and 1259, or any other statutory provision, conditions the right to appeal a ruling denying a lineup motion on first filing a petition for a writ of mandate. Furthermore, although the Legislature delegated to the Judicial Council the power to prescribe rules for practice and procedure on appeal in criminal cases (§ 1247k), nothing in the Rules of Court requires a defendant to file a petition for writ of mandate in order to preserve the right to direct appeal (see Cal. Rules of Court, rules 8.385-8.386, 8.485-8.493). Where the Legislature has wanted to limit the right of appeal in criminal cases, it explicitly set forth those limitations. (See, e.g., § 1237.1 [limiting appeals where the sole issue involves custody and conduct credits]; § 1237.5 [limiting appeals where the judgment is based on a no contest or guilty plea]; § 1238 [specifying the limited circumstances under which the People may appeal in criminal cases].)

Judicially imposing a writ requirement would conflict with the foregoing legislative scheme. If the Court of Appeal denied relief in a written opinion following issuance of an alternative writ, the decision would be law of the case and res judicata, thereby foreclosing any subsequent direct appeal of the issue. (*Kowis v. Howard* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 888, 891.) This principle has been applied in criminal cases. (See, e.g., *People v. Stanley* (1995) 10 Cal.4th 764, 786-787 [a challenge to the denial

of his suppression motion]; *People v. Keenan* (1988) 46 Cal.3d 478, 505 [a challenge to the denial of a discovery motion]; *People v. Ghent* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 739, 758-760 [a challenge to the denial of a motion to sever counts].) Thus, if a defendant were compelled by a judicially crafted rule to seek writ review to challenge the denial of the lineup motion, and the Court of Appeal issued a written opinion rejecting his contention, the legislative intent to permit a defendant to seek relief through a post-judgment appeal would be thwarted, contrary to the principle that appellate procedure is subject to complete legislative control.

One Court of Appeal reached the same conclusion in a civil case – the Legislature's decision to specify the mode(s) of judicial review must be scrupulously honored. There, the appellate court considered whether a party dissatisfied with a trial court ruling setting aside a settlement under Code of Civil Procedure section 998 should be required as a matter of judicial policy to seek writ review as a prerequisite to appeal.

[W]e do not believe that appellate courts may impose such a condition where the Legislature has not seen fit to do so.

The Legislature has determined that on appeal, "... the reviewing court may review the verdict or decision and any intermediate ruling, proceeding, order or decision which involves the merits or necessarily affects the judgment or order appealed from or which substantially affects the rights of a party ..." ([Code Civ. Proc.] § 906; [citation].) The order setting aside the section 998 settlement in this case is such an order. It affects the judgment and the rights of a party. Where the Legislature has determined that public policy demands that writ review be sought before an appeal may be taken, the Legislature has so required. Such a requirement has been imposed, for example, in some circumstances in dependency cases. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 366.26, subd. (1).)

Since no statute required Premium to seek writ review of the trial court ruling at issue as a prerequisite to appeal, and since there is no persuasive authority to that effect, we find that the trial court order setting aside the section 998 settlement may

properly be raised on this appeal.

(Premium Commercial Servs. Corp. v. National Bank of Calif. (1999) 72 Cal.App.4th 1493, 1498-1499; see also In re Joann E. (2002) 104 Cal.App.4th 347, 353 [following the holding in Premium Commercial].)

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