In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S173973

v.

JOAQUIN MENA,

Defendant-Appellant.

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D052091 San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. CD205930 The Honorable Bernard E. Revak, Judge

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SUPREME COURT FILED

JAN 1 9 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

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

[opportunity to inspect and copy statements made by defendant to law enforcement officers]; Powell v. Superior Court (1957) 48 Cal.2d 704, 707 [same]; Funk v. Superior Court (1959) 52 Cal.2d 423 [discovery of police officers' notes regarding statements of witnesses]); Cornell v. Superior Court (1959) 52 Cal.2d 99 [hypnotic examination of a defendant]); Harris v. Municipal Court (1930) 209 Cal. 55 [dismissal of a criminal action not brought to trial within the time required by law]); Zamloch v. Municipal Court (1951) 106 Cal.App.2d 260 [dismissal where a defendant has been denied the constitutional right to a speedy trial]); Gomez v. Superior Court (1958) 50 Cal.2d 640 [case transfer]; Smith v. Municipal Court (1959) 167 Cal.App.2d 534 [same]). This theory rests on the proposition that the "[a]vailability of appeal often falls short of sufficient protection, since 'the burden, expense and delay involved in a trial render an appeal from an eventual judgment an inadequate remedy.' " (Maine v. Superior Court, supra, 68 Cal.2d at p. 378.)

Appellant relies extensively on *People v. Memro* (1985) 38 Cal.3d 658, 676, for his assertion that a forfeiture rule should not apply in the context of pretrial discovery. (BOM at 14-17.) That case is inapposite. In Memro, the defendant sought to establish that his confession should be excluded because it had been obtained by means of police coercion. In order to bolster his claim, the defendant sought discovery in the form of investigative reports referencing complaints received against those officers concerning their use of excessive force or violence. (*People v. Memro*, *supra*, 38 Cal.3d at p. 674.) The prosecution argued that appellate review should be precluded because the defendant had not first sought to overturn the ruling by means of a pretrial writ, but this Court declined to impose such a requirement as a condition to review on appeal. (*Id.* at pp. 675-676.)

In reaching its conclusion, *Memro* cited *People v. Wilson*, *supra*, 60 Cal.2d 139 (*Wilson*), a case that discussed whether a defendant who had not

challenged an alleged violation of his constitutional right to speedy trial by writ could still assert his claim on direct appeal. In this context, the Wilson court adverted to the paradoxical circumstances of a defendant who challenges the denial of the right post-judgment. Noting that the purpose of Penal Code section 1382 is to protect the accused from having charges pending against him for an undue length of time, the Wilson court observed:

But in the case at bench *nothing that any court can do now will achieve that end*; the charges are no longer pending against defendant; the delay has ended, and he has been duly tried and convicted. It is, very simply, too late for defendant to seek to be relieved of a delay that no longer exists.

(Wilson, supra, 60 Cal.2d at p. 151 [emphasis in original].) The Wilson court also found, however, that while it was "too late to relieve defendant of the delay in bringing him to trial," he was still in a position to obtain appellate review of the matter, where the Court could weigh "the effect of the delay in bringing defendant to trial or the fairness of the subsequent trial itself." (Ibid.)

The situation here is unlike that presented in *Memro*. While the application of a general forfeiture rule to discovery requests may be both unwise from a policy perspective and unsupported by case law, the unusual circumstances surrounding pretrial lineups counsel a holding by this Court that a defendant who seeks to challenge the denial of his motion must do so by writ of mandate because he has no adequate remedy on appeal. By waiting to do so until after his trial's completion, a defendant has ensured that the evidentiary value of any subsequent lineup would be negated and would therefore do nothing to increase the reliability of a second trial, or increase the accuracy of the jury's fact-finding. Appellant acknowledged as much in his supplemental briefing for the Court of Appeal. (SAOB at pp. 6-7.) In short, his failure to seek redress pretrial precludes appellant from

effectively vindicating the right he was assertedly denied. In *Memro*, by contrast, the evidence that the defendant sought was still available to him post-appeal.

The Evans Court limited the right it created to those instances where a "timely request" has been made. (*Evans*, *supra*, 11 Cal.3d at p. 625.) In Evans, this Court also declared that a motion for a pretrial lineup should "normally be made as soon after arrest or arraignment as practicable" (*Id.* at p. 626.) Four years after it decided Evans, this Court observed that "The value of a pretrial lineup is substantially diminished once a preliminary examination has been conducted and a direct confrontation between a defendant and his accusers has occurred." (*People v. Baines* (1981) 30 Cal.3d 143, 148.)

As the *Evans* court framed the issue, "The question is whether *prior to* the in-court receipt of evidence of identification the accused can insist that procedures be afforded whereby the weakness of the identification evidence, if it is in fact weak, can be disclosed." (*Evans*, *supra*, 11 Cal.3d at p. 622 [italics in original]. The Court of Appeal in the instant case aptly characterized the nature of the *Evans* right as "ephemeral" (Slip Opn. at p. 8), and appropriately concluded that absent a challenge by writ, the ensuing delay in seeking relief "thwarts the purposes served by the right conferred under *Evans* and prevents a court reviewing the claim . . . from fashioning any appropriate relief even if it finds error." (Slip Opn. at p. 7.) A writ requirement is logically derived from an intrinsic analysis of the emphasis *Evans* itself places on a timely assertion of the right to a pretrial lineup. It exists until an in-court confrontation between the defendant and the witness occurs; it can only be enforced prior to that event.

Accordingly, appellant's case must be distinguished from cases such as Wilson, which held that notwithstanding the lack of a remedy for the violation, a defendant retains the right of review on appeal, where the Court

may weigh "the effect of the delay in bringing defendant to trial or the fairness of the subsequent trial itself," and relief may still be granted. (Wilson, supra, 60 Cal.2d at p. 151.) It must also be distinguished from cases such as Memro, where a defendant may still obtain the discovery he was denied. Though it is true that a lineup may still be held on remand, due to the fact that the complaining witness has already viewed the defendant at trial, its evidentiary value is irremediably compromised. And since appellant was deprived of the evidence as the result of his own inaction and not because of prosecutorial or governmental misconduct, sanctions including dismissal, suppression of the identification evidence, or an instruction creating an adverse presumption regarding identification are unwarranted.

Given Evans's holding that the right to a lineup must be timely asserted, and subsequent holdings by this Court that the evidentiary value of a lineup nears a vanishing point once the preliminary hearing has been held, appellant cannot be heard to complain, as he does, that a forfeiture rule would be "new" and that it should not be applied "retroactively" to his case. (BOM at pp. 20-21.) The forfeiture rule is well settled in this Court's jurisprudence; its application would not present a "clear break" with past precedent. (Griffith v. Kentucky (1987) 479 U.S. 314, 324-325 [107 S.Ct. 708, 93 L.Ed.2d 649].) This Court reserved the question of whether appellant's claim was timely asserted in People v. Farnam, supra, 28 Cal.4th at page 184. Accordingly, a forfeiture rule such as the one contemplated here would neither overrule a past precedent of this Court, nor disapprove a practice this Court has arguably sanctioned in prior cases, nor overturn a longstanding practice that lower appellate courts in this state have uniformly approved. (Griffith v. Kentucky, supra, 479 U.S. at p. 325.) The fact that this Court has considered claims concerning the denial of a pretrial lineup on direct appeal does not mean that it has sanctioned their

post-judgment review. Until now, this Court has never been squarely presented with that question.

In arguing that a writ requirement is ill-advised, appellant raises the specter that a Court of Appeal may deny relief in a written opinion, and the law of the case doctrine may be applied to circumvent any subsequent review of the issue by this Court. (BOM at 10.) As appellant concedes (BOM at p. 17), following an adverse ruling on his writ application by the Court of Appeal, he would have the opportunity of seeking review of the judgment from this Court. Alternatively, he could seek writ relief from this Court in the first instance, since it has original jurisdiction. (Cal. Constitution, Art. VI, § 10; Rules of Court, rule 8.485(a)).

It is no doubt the unavailability of a remedy on appeal which has led to the paucity of opinions that have addressed the subject. Respondent has only found a single case, *Commonwealth v. Sexton*, *supra*, 485 Pa. at p. 17 (*Sexton*), where a reviewing court found an abuse of discretion on direct appeal and had occasion to fashion an appropriate remedy on remand. *Sexton* only serves to underscore the lack of a remedy under the circumstances presented by the instant case.

In *Sexton*, the defendant robbed a cashier at gunpoint. A store customer observed the defendant for approximately one minute before he approached the cashier, and also pursued the defendant as he fled. The first time that the customer identified the defendant was at his preliminary hearing, and that identification was the only evidence connecting the defendant to the crime. The defendant had moved for a pretrial lineup before his preliminary hearing was held, but the trial court denied his motion. (*Sexton*, *supra*, 485 Pa. at p. 20.) On appeal, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court disagreed with the lower court's resolution of the case, as it had reversed so that further hearings could be held to determine whether the suggestive one-on-one confrontation between the defendant and the

complaining witness at the preliminary hearing had tainted the subsequent in-court identification. (*Ibid.*)

After finding the circumstances surrounding the identification at the preliminary hearing were not "so unreliable as to offend due process," the *Sexton* court turned to what it considered the "difficult aspect" of the case, involving the trial court's denial of the motion for a pretrial lineup. The *Sexton* court declared it could "perceive of no situation where such a request would be more warranted," considering that the sole evidence connecting the defendant to the crime was the identification of the customer, "who had no knowledge of [the defendant] before the incident, observed the culprit briefly before and during the crime, had no contact with the [defendant] between the arrest and the certification hearing, and had not been presented with an opportunity of a photographic identification prior to the hearing confrontation." (*Sexton*, *supra*, 485 Pa. at pp. 22-23.)

Though the *Sexton* court conceded the United States Supreme Court had not determined whether a defendant has a constitutional right to a pretrial lineup, it observed that the high court "recognized the importance that such a procedure may have in ameliorating the suggestiveness of a courtroom confrontation and in insuring the reliability of identification evidence." (*Sexton*, *supra*, 485 Pa. at pp. 23-24 [citing Moore v. Illinois, supra, 434 U.S. at pp. 230-231, fn. 5.].) The Sexton court then noted that, "Where it is shown that [the trial court's] decision is without justification and that the accused has been substantially harmed thereby, it is incumbent upon the reviewing court to provide a remedy commensurate to the harm sustained by the party receiving the adverse ruling." (*Id.* at p. 24.)

The *Sexton* court took issue, however, with the lower court's holding that since no remedy was available, the courtroom identifications should be excluded. In fashioning its proposed remedy, the *Sexton* court opined that the purpose of a pretrial lineup is "to provide a setting which is less

suggestive than the one-on-one confrontation provided by an in-court identification." (Sexton, supra, 485 Pa. at p. 24.) Under the circumstances presented by Sexton, where there had been no intervening identification of the defendant by the complaining witness, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court observed that the defendant had been denied the benefit of having the victim identify him in a setting that was more objective than that offered at his preliminary hearing. (Id. at pp. 20, 24.) It reasoned that the defendant had perhaps "lost the possibility that under such circumstances either an identification could not have been made, or that it might have been made with apparent uncertainty or hesitancy." (Ibid.)

After first noting that evidentiary sanctions are reserved for instances of governmental misconduct or impropriety, the *Sexton* court determined that excluding the in-court identifications because a pretrial lineup was not held would be "punitive rather than remedial" as well as "unduly harsh and out of proportion to the injury sustained." (*Id.* at pp. 24, 26.) It then concluded that the violation of appellant's right could properly be cured by a charge to the jury on remand, which would instruct jurors that "[the defendant] had been denied the opportunity for a more objective identification and for that reason the subsequent less reliable identification could be viewed with caution." (*Id.* at p. 25.)

Even this remedy is inapplicable to the circumstances of the instant case. The *Sexton* court's finding that an injury had been sustained by that defendant arose from the fact that no intervening identification had been made by the complaining witness between the time that the defendant committed the crime and the time where he was asked to point him out at the preliminary hearing. (*Sexton*, *supra*, 485 Pa. at p. 23.) By contrast, in the instant case Jesus was able to identify appellant at the field show-up, which was conducted only two hours after the attack. At that point appellant had already received the benefit of one reliable intervening

identification procedure. Staging a lineup the day of the preliminary hearing, a full two months after the attack, would not have yielded a more objective identification under the circumstances presented here.

In the case at bar, appellant chose not to exercise his right to challenge the denial of his motion through application for a writ of mandate at a time when a pretrial lineup would have had evidentiary value. Given that appellant's post-judgment assertion of his right to a pretrial lineup is untimely under *Evans's* own terms, and that he has no adequate remedy on appeal, the forfeiture doctrine should apply. Notwithstanding appellant's claims to the contrary (BOM at pp. 10-14), such a holding would no more contravene the legislative scheme governing appellate rights than any other instance where this Court has applied a forfeiture rule. The *Sexton* court did not consider whether a defendant should be limited to challenging the denial of such a motion by pretrial writ in those instances where an intervening identification has been made; however, it illustrates the problematic nature of fashioning a remedy on appeal when that is the case.

Under the rule respondent proposes, a defendant in appellant's circumstances would not find himself without recourse. Though he may not challenge the denial of his motion for a pretrial lineup on direct appeal, he may still challenge any intervening identification on grounds that it was impermissibly suggestive, and that it gave rise to a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification in violation of his federal due process rights. The denial of a motion for a pretrial lineup would at that point be subsumed by the inquiry addressing the overall reliability of the identification evidence that was presented at trial.

Here, appellant contended below that the showup was suggestive (1 RT 3-4), and he continues to make the same assertion on appeal (BOM at pp. 3, 27); however, he never made the appropriate objection or motion to suppress and so he has forfeited that claim as well. (Cf. *People v*.

Lawrence (1971) 4 Cal.3d 273, 275, fn. 1 ["Identification evidence is properly challenged on *Wade-Gilbert* grounds by means of a pretrial motion to suppress or by a timely objection at the time the evidence is offered at trial"].)

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